# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-KA-00217-COA

**ADAM TROY PETERS** 

**APPELLANT** 

V.

**FILED** 

MAY 1 1 2007

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

**APPELLEE** 

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS
George T. Holmes, MSB No.
301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210
Jackson MS 39201
601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-KA-00217-COA

**ADAM TROY PETERS** 

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

**ISSUE NO. 1:** 

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT

REQUIRING THE STATE TO IDENTIFY A CONFIDENTIAL

**INFORMANT?** 

**ISSUE NO. 2:** 

WHETHER THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE VERDICT?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from a judgment of conviction against Adam Troy Peters for armed robbery out of the Circuit Court of Marion County, Mississippi, following a jury trial held July 10, 2006, with the Honorable Michael R. Eubanks, Circuit Judge, presiding. Mr. Peters was sentenced to a term of twenty-five (25) years imprisonment as an habitual offender under MCA §99-19-81 (1972), and, is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### **FACTS**

According to the trial testimony, the Subway Sandwich Shop in Columbia MS, in Marion County, was robbed by a man brandishing a pistol on September 19, 2001. The two clerks on duty at the time said the robber entered the store through a back door, by force, at closing time about 10:00 p. m. and informed them that this was a robbery. [T 94-98, 112-17, 123-34, 138-39, 144-54, 158-59]. The cash register was relinquished and the

robber left with about \$500.00. Id.

Mr. Peters, who had been arrested on an unrelated warrant from Ohio, became a suspect in the robbery when a confidential informant allegedly identified Peters to investigating officers as having been seen coming out of the back of the sandwich shop about the time of the robbery looking nervous and shaking. [T. 61-64]. The informant also said that the nervous person got into a white automobile with two females and left. *Id.* A motion to require the state to disclose the confidential informant was overruled. [*Id.*; R. 89-90].

Initially, the two store workers failed to recognize Adam Troy Peters in a photographic line-up and identified someone else as the perpetrator. [T. 89-98, 115-17, 138, 151-52, 158-59]. Subsequently, the employees identified Adam Troy Peters in a live line-up as the robber. *Id*.

Mr. Peters was interviewed by investigators and allegedly confessed to the details of the crime. [Exs. 21, 22; T. 104-110; R. 93-122] The purported confession included details that the robber was aided by two females, one of whom furnished the weapon which was used, and that all of them fled in a white automobile. *Id*.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The defense was hindered by the state not being required to disclose the identity of a confidential informant in investigating the case thus denying Mr. Peters full access to

his rights of confrontation under the United States and Mississippi Constitutions. The verdict was not supported by the evidence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT REQUIRING THE STATE TO IDENTIFY A CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT?

Arguing that the confidential informant was an eye witness to the offense in this case, the defense asked the trial court by motion to require full disclosure of the informant; but, the court denied the request. [T. 61-64; R. 89-90]. This denial appears to rule afoul of applicable rules and case law.

According to *Turner v. State*, 950 So.2d 243, 246-47 (Miss. App. 2007) a confidential informant's identity is required to be disclosed if that person:

is to be produced at hearing or trial, or failure to disclose his or her identity will infringe on the constitutional rights of the accused, or the informant is an eyewitness to the events which lead to the charges against the defendant. URCCC 9.04(B)(2). If the informant "is not a material witness to the guilt or innocence of the accused," disclosure is within the discretion of the trial court. [cite omitted] . . . when the disclosure of the confidential informant's identity is warranted, "[a]t a minimum, ... the [S]tate must, in good faith, disclose all information in its possession, including that of location." [cite omitted]

Peters' defense was one of misidentification. Both of the sandwich shop workers independently identified another person as the robber in a photographic line-up missing the appellant, whose photograph was in the line-up, in the process prior to the live line-up

where Peters was identified. [T. 89-98, 115-17, 138, 151-52, 158-59]. In order for the appellant here to have had the benefit of all of his fundamental due process rights and rights of confrontation, under Miss. Const., Article 3, § 26, U. S. Const., Sixth Amend, and U. S. Const., Fourteenth Amend., the state should have been required to disclose the identity and whereabouts of the confidential informant in this case. The informant saw the crime as it was in progress. He was, therefore, an eyewitness under URCCC 9.04(B)(2).

The remedy is reversal. In *Graves v. State*, 767 So.2d 1049, 1054 (Miss. App.2000), a trial court refused to require the state to identify a confidential informant who participated in a drug sale. The *Graves* court reversed citing *Cousan v. State*, 543 So.2d 177 (Miss.1989) Here, the confidential informant did not participate in the crime, but, was clearly a contemporaneous eye witness to the offense, which alone should have required disclosure; but, in conjunction with the limitation of the appellants cross-examination rights certainly requires reversal if the above authorities are applied.

#### ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE VERDICT?

Normally, conflicting testimony is relegated to the jury for resolution. This is as it should be, in most cases. However, there is a dividing line when discrepancies are so conflicting, in the state's case in chief, that this court has to say that a verdict of guilty cannot be supported. *McClain v. State*, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss.1993). In this case the

testimony is at best unreliable and insufficient to support the conviction due to the identification of another person by the state's witnesses who only identified Peters after multiple exposures to him or his photograph at the Columbia Police Station.

Moreover, without reliable independent proof of guilt, Peters' alleged confession alone is insufficient to support a verdict of guilty in a capital case. In *Harris v. State*, 155 Miss. 398, 124 So. 493, 494-95 (1929), Harris was charged with killing a man named George Gaden who's actual identity was never proven, nor was it shown that the body in question belonged to George Gaden. The state argued that Harris admitted hitting Gaden in the head with an ax during an argument, and that the *corpus delicti* was thereby established. The *Harris* court rejected this argument with the observation that Harris confessed that Gaden was hit in the head, Harris did not confess that Gaden was dead. *Id.* The *Harris* court reversed on the ground that the state had not presented proof of identity sufficient to establish the requisite *corpus delicti*. Id.

The *Harris* court stated that:

the confessions of the prisoner out of court even that he did kill a certain man for whose murder he was indicted [is] not sufficient to establish corpus delicti.

\* \* \*

... The corpus delicti must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt by evidence other that such extrajudicial confessions. 124 So. at 495 [cite omitted]

This statement of the law, has been quite longstanding. In *Stringfellow v. State*, 26 Miss. 157, 59 Am. Dec. 247 (1853), the court said:

We believe that the doctrine which holds that, in capital felonies, the prisoner's confession, when the corpus delicti is not proven by independent testimony, is insufficient for his conviction, best accords with the solid principles of reason... 26 Miss. at 165-66.<sup>1</sup>

Looking at the facts of this case in the light most favorable to the state, a reasonable juror could not conclude guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The testimony would lead a reasonable juror to have reasonable doubt about the guilt of Adam Troy Peters. It follows that the jury's verdict is not supported by credible evidence and is contrary to the overwhelming weight of evidence. Peters respectfully requests that the Court reverse his conviction, and order a new trial.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Therefore, Peters is entitled to a new trial.