IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ADAM TROY PETERS

FILED

APPELLANT

JUN 03 2007

VS.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK NO. 2007-KA-0217-COA SUPPLEME COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DESHUN T. MARTIN

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment of the Circuit Court of Marion County, Mississippi, in which the Appellant, Adam Troy Peters, was convicted and sentenced for the felony crime of **ARMED ROBBERY**, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-79 (1972), and **HABITUAL OFFENDER**, Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-81 (1972).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September the 18th, the year 2001, Christy Cook and Josh King were working at the Subway, which is located out on Highway 13. They were both working there that day. Around 10 o'clock at night they were closing up. Christy walked outside with the garbage and she put it in the dumpster. She turned around and there was someone standing there. There was a man, Troy Adam Peters, standing there. He was a black male and he looked at her and he said, I want a burger. She said, sir, we're closed and we don't sell burgers at Subway. She tried to walk off and he said, I want

a burger. She said, sir, we are closed. At this point, she's trying to get to the back door of the Subway so she can get inside the door. This man follows her. She can't shut the door and he pushes his way inside. She screams for Josh. That's when this man pulled out a gun and stuck it to her head. And he said, this is a robbery. They give him the money and he flees. (T. 77 - 78).

Adam Troy Peters, was convicted and sentenced for the felony crime of **ARMED ROBBERY**, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-79 (1972), and **HABITUAL OFFENDER**, Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-81 (1972).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS PROPER IN NOT REQUIRING THE STATE TO IDENTIFY A CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT?

We have held that the disclosure of an informer, who is not a material witness to the guilt or innocence of the accused, is within the sound discretion of the trial court. Strode v. State, 231 So.2d 779 (Miss.1970).

This Court has recognized the value of the informer's role in law enforcement and has developed an "informer's privilege," which enables the prosecution to withhold the informant's identity. Strode v. State, 231 So.2d 779 (Miss.1970).

II.

THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE VERDICT.

Smith v. State, 826 So.2d 768, 770 (Miss. App. 2002) holds that in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial.

THE ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS PROPER IN NOT REQUIRING THE STATE TO IDENTIFY A CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT?

Allowing the State to withhold the identity of the confidential informant was not an abuse of discretion where the informant, who gave information concerning the purchase of drugs from the defendant, as well as possession of newly acquired quantities of drugs, was not shown to be a coconspirator intending to sell the drugs, nor a material witness to the offense of the intent to sell. Breckenridge v. State, 472 So.2d 373, 379 (Miss.1985). The same analysis is to be applied here in that this confidential informant was not a material witness.

The appellant contends that the trial court erred in failing to disclose the identity of the confidential informant. This Court has recognized the value of the informer's role in law enforcement and has developed an "informer's privilege," which enables the prosecution to withhold the informant's identity. Strode v. State, 231 So.2d 779 (Miss.1970).

In order for the trial court to require the identity of an informant to be revealed, he must have been a participant in the crime or an eye witness to the offense which would cause the confidential informant to become a material witness.

We have held that the disclosure of an informer ,who is not a material witness to the guilt or innocence of the accused, is within the sound discretion of the trial court. Strode v. State, 231 So.2d 779 (Miss.1970).

MR. KITTRELL: No. I said he said he saw him shaking. Let me get the information from Robert Carson's report. I think he was just in the area, but let me see here.

It says here, "I've got some

```
21
         information stating that there were two
22
         females in a vehicle, a white Cadillac.
23
         Also, the informant advised me that the
24
         young man, Adam Peters, came from around
25
         that area of Subway, and this person
26
         advised me that he was shaking and
27
         nervous."
28
            So I don't think they saw him, in
29
         fact. They just saw him in the area come (T. 63)
        around there, so they just provided that
1
2
        information to law enforcement and then law
3
        enforcement acted upon that and continued
4
        their investigation.
5
           THE COURT: What you're saying,
6
        Mr. Sweatt, you want that person to be a
7
        witness at the trial?
8
           MR. SWEATT: My client asked me to
9
        file a motion so we'd know who it was, Your
10
         Honor. We'd investigate it if we needed
11
         to.
12
            THE COURT: If they're not calling him
13
         and they're not going to come out at all,
14
         there's no way it could be beneficial to
         your position, could it?
15
            MR. SWEATT: On the surface, it may
16
17
         appear so, Your Honor.
18
            THE COURT: Okay. All right. I'm
19
         going to overrule the motion. (T. 64)
```

The State would submit that this issue brought by the Appellant is lacking in merit. As the trial court said, "If they're not calling him and they're not going to come out at all, there's no way it could be beneficial to your position, could it?" (T. 64).

PROPOSITION II.

THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE VERDICT.

Smith v. State, 826 So.2d 768, 770 (Miss. App. 2002) holds that in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has

abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial.

The correct standard as stated above in <u>Smith</u>, is to take the evidence presented by the prosecution as true together with reasonable inferences. The evidence cited in the record, taken as true together with reasonable inference is more than sufficient evidence in support of the jury's verdict. Furthermore, weight and sufficiency of the evidence will be discussed in detail below.

The applicable standard of review is found in <u>Dilworth v. State</u>, 909 So.2d 731, 741 (Miss. 2005) and <u>Bush v. State</u>, 895 So.2d 836, 843 (Miss. 2005) that the standard of review for a post-trial motion is abuse of discretion.

In Carr v. State, 208 So.2d 886,889 (Miss. 1968) the court held:

We stated that in considering whether the evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction in the face of a motion for directed verdict or for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the critical inquiry is whether the evidence shows 'beyond a reasonable doubt that accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this test it is insufficient to support a conviction.' However, this inquiry does not require a court to 'ask itself whether it believes that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.' Instead, the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

Reasonably, matters regarding the weight and credibility to be accorded the evidence are to be resolved by the jury. "Weight" implicates the denial of a motion for a new trial while "sufficiency" implicates the denial of motions for directed verdict, peremptory instruction, and judgment notwithstanding the verdict. May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984).

In other words, the remedy for a defect in "weight" is a new trial while the remedy for a defect in "sufficiency" is final discharge from custody.

Where a defendant has made post-trial motions assailing the sufficiency of the evidence, "
... the trial court must consider all of the evidence - not just the evidence which supports the State's

case - in the light most favorable to the State." Winters v. State, 473 So.2d 452, 459 (Miss. 1985). See also McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774 (Miss. 1993). This includes the defendant's evidence, if any, which must be construed in a light most favorable to the prosecution's theory of the case.

In judging the legal "sufficiency," as opposed to "weight," of the evidence on a motion for a directed verdict or request for peremptory instruction or motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, the trial judge is required to accept as true all of the evidence that is favorable to the State, including all reasonable inferences that may be drawn therefrom, and to disregard evidence favorable to the defendant. Hart v. State, 637 So.2d 1329, 1340 (Miss. 1994); Edwards v. State, 615 So.2d 590, 594 (Miss. 1993); Clemons v. State, 460 So.2d 835, 839 (Miss. 1984); Forbes v. State, 437 So.2d 59, 60 (Miss. 1983); Bullock v. State, 391 So.2d 601, 606 (Miss. 1980); Boyd v. State, 754 So.2d 586 (Miss. App. 2000).

If under this standard, sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict of guilty exists, the motion for a directed verdict and request for peremptory instruction or JNOV should be overruled. Brown v. State, 556 So.2d 338 (Miss. 1990); Davis v. State, 530 So.2d 694 (Miss. 1988). As stated previously, a finding that evidence is insufficient results in a discharge of the defendant. May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984).

Put another way, the trial court, and this Court on appeal as well, must accept the State's evidence as true and view it in a light most favorable to the State's theory of the case.

The State counters that the jury heard all of the evidence, exhibits and testimony, and the members of the jury believed the evidence produced by the prosecution. The jury verdict should stand.

On September 24, 2001, in the Columbia, Mississippi, Legal Complex at 10:23 a.m., Peters knowingly gave a voluntary and intelligent confession (Exhibit 22) to the crime of **ARMED**

ROBBERY, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-79 (1972), that he committed on September 18, 2001. Furthermore, the two direct eye - witness victims identified Peters as being the perpetrator.

The State would submit that this issue brought by the Appellant is therefore lacking in merit.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the jury verdict and sentence of the trial court.